Art therapy with meditation for children diagnosed with ADHD and their caretakers

Deborah Potirala

A Research Paper

in

The Department

of

Creative Arts Therapies

Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

For the Degree of Master of Arts

Concordia University

Montreal, Quebec, Canada

September 2020

© Deborah Potirala 2020

CONCORDIA UNIVERSITY

School of Graduate Studies

This research	paper prepared	
By:	Deborah Potirala	
Entitled:	Art therapy with meditation for children diagnosed with ADHD and their caretakers	
and submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts (Creative Arts Therapies; Art Therapy Option)		
complies with	the regulations of the University and meets the accepted standards with respect to	
originality and quality as approved by the research advisor.		
Research Adv	isor:	
Melissa Tan, MA, RP, MTA, NMT-F		
Department C	hair:	
Guylaine Vail	lancourt, PhD, MTA	
	September 2020	

ABSTRACT

Art therapy with meditation for children diagnosed with ADHD and their caretakers

Deborah Potirala

The focus of this theoretical, bibliographic research is the review and synthesis of literature to develop a new understanding of the feasibility of multi-modal approaches, specifically art therapy and meditation, for children up to age 17 (adolescents included) diagnosed with Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) together with their adult primary caretakers. The three subject areas (i.e. both modalities and ADHD) were researched separately in order to define and most extensively where they intersect. While there is new and promising research available for each modality, no published, peer-reviewed research was available within the specified search parameters about how the two could work together for children with ADHD and their caretakers. Important components and benefits of related studies where some intersection occurred are conveyed in a review and synthesis of findings. Core symptoms of ADHD in the children (i.e. hyperactivity, impulsivity, and inattention) often saw improvement while other positive outcomes were noted in various interventions. When directly involved, caretakers experienced benefits too. These sometimes included increased calm, increased self-care, reduced parenting stress, reduced parental overreactivity or relational improvements. However, it is only possible to theorize about the viability and outcomes of a *complete* intersection of such modalities when used together for this population. In order to respond to the gap in the literature, future research is necessary.

Acknowledgements and Dedication

Sincere appreciation is offered to my family, friends, clients, supervisors, professors, classmates, and editor. In addition, this work is dedicated to all my students over the years.

Table of Contents

ABSTRACT	iii
Acknowledgements and Dedication	iv
Chapter 1. Introduction	1
Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD)	2
Conventional Definitions	3
Conventional Treatments	5
Problem Statement and Objectives	7
Chapter 2. Method	8
Overview of Methodology	8
Steps in Procedure	10
Databases and Search Terms	11
Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria	12
Data Collection and Extraction	13
Ethics	15
Chapter 3. Literature Review	16
Modalities and ADHD	17
Art Therapy + ADHD + Meditation	17
ADHD + Art Therapy	17
Art Therapy + Meditation	19
ADHD + Meditation	22
Chapter 4. Discussion	29
Synthesis of Findings	30
Subsidiary Research Topics	36
Alternate Definitions of ADHD	36
Etiology and Risk Factors	37
Limitations	41
Future Directions	43
Chapter 5. Conclusion	44
References	45
Appendix. Erikson's Psychosocial Stages	56

Chapter 1. Introduction

Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) has become a very common diagnosis for children when behavioural problems create difficulties with caretakers, teachers, and classmates (Le Heuzey, 2020). It is essential to study whether various therapeutic modalities have the potential to provide skills and tools in order to help those affected. The purpose of this paper is to study how art therapy (AT) when combined with meditation may be helpful to these children and their adult caretakers, often parents. ADHD can be thought of as a larger societal issue necessary to study because troubles between parent and child manifest not in isolation but within larger social contexts and because issues on an individual level reverberate in classrooms, workplaces, and the larger society as a whole. In short, as noted by Keirns et al. (2013), society influences the development of individuals, but each person and their struggles also affect and change society in a dynamic reciprocity.

Therefore, in order to assist these children and caretakers with the challenges both groups face, it is important to examine the situation. While there is new and promising research available for both AT and meditation modalities, they are not yet commonly researched as a combined topic in the current literature—even if, in AT practice, they may be jointly implemented as per observation and experience. It seems even less common to publish peer-reviewed research about how the two could work together for children with ADHD and their caretakers—no such peer-reviewed, published article has been revealed through the delimited database searches herein described. It is clear that AT and meditation have the potential to traverse the internal and external worlds. Such methods can be highly portable and require little in the way of materials for daily self-regulation strategies.

The idea for this topic coalesced at the intersection of four topics: one is a Brazilian study by Ciasca et al. (2018) in which guided imagery and regular AT sessions with an art therapist helped depressed participants with their anxiety. The research related to the topic of this paper because anxiety is said to be a common companion of people diagnosed with ADHD. Second, Perry and Szalavitz (2007) curiously suggested that some cases of ADHD may in actuality be posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD). It is beyond the scope of this paper to deal with possible misdiagnoses. Researching on behalf of children with the ADHD diagnosis, with an openness to whether it is accurate or not, is the researcher's aim. The third source of motivation was the Expressive Therapies Continuum (ETC; Hinz, 2009) with its AT case studies on employing guided imagery and on addressing ADHD—in separate studies. Finally, sheer curiosity brings together the ideas. Via these sources the researcher's perspective initially took shape and informed this paper. Furthermore, through experience the researcher noted that AT is occasionally combined with different sorts of meditation in actual practice. While AT can be used with this population, the researcher wanted to find out how the addition of meditation, at first seemingly but intriguingly counter-intuitive, for those diagnosed with ADHD might fare.

Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD)

This section addresses the emergence of the diagnostic category, conventional definitions of ADHD, and conventional treatments. Before the emergence of the diagnostic category of ADHD, early traces of behaviors with symptoms corresponding to ADHD evidently appeared well before the formal diagnostic category as shown in the following. Mention of earlier accounts is herein noted: "Sir Alexander Crichton (1763–1856) described something akin to attention deficit disorder as early as 1798, when he wrote of a child's 'incapacity of attending with a necessary degree of constancy to any one object'" (Crichton, 1798, as cited in Abdesslem et al., 2019, p. 19).

Other later accounts allude to similar issues such as a German storybook *Struwwelpeter* from 1845 (Armstrong, 2017) and Kramer and Pollnow in 1932 (Abdesslem et al., 2019). The emergence of a formal description and disorder label can be traced to at least the 1970s with the linking of attention to hyperkinesis; in the 1980s, the DSM-3 designated a new disorder related to attention, also mentioned in *Academic Therapy Quarterly* (Armstrong, 2017). A pandemic unfolded to even encompass toddlers (Schwarz, 2014). As for global prevalence, ADHD is rather common (Mehta et al., 2011). A recent systematic review of 135 studies from different countries over almost three full decades (i.e. 1985-2012) concluded that "variability in ADHD prevalence estimates is mostly explained by methodological characteristics of the studies" (Polanczyk et al., 2014, p. 434) and that "increasing rates of diagnosis and treatment of ADHD are likely a reflection of increasing awareness, access to treatment or changing clinical practices" (Polanczyk et al., 2014, p. 441). According to the DSM-5, ADHD occurs in "most cultures in about 5% of children" and in approximately 2.5% of adults (APA, 2013).

Conventional Definitions

Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder or attention deficit hyperactivity disorder is often referred to by the acronyms ADHD, AD/HD, or A.D.H.D. Herein, it is referred to in this paper as ADHD. This disorder involves long-term symptoms of inattention, hyperactivity, and impulsivity which impair typical functioning (American Psychiatric Association [APA], 2013). This paper used the following definition as it often appeared in articles.

In defining the disorder, ADHD falls under Neurodevelopmental Disorders in the DSM-5; "Inattention [...] Hyperactivity and impulsivity" interfering "with functioning or development" characterize this difficulty that is not better explained by "defiance or lack of comprehension" (APA, 2013, p. 49). Certainly, the symptoms should not be better explained by another disorder.

A brief summary of the problem is as follows: "Inattention manifests behaviorally in ADHD as wandering off task, lacking persistence [...] Hyperactivity refers to excessive motor activity [...] Impulsivity refers to hasty actions that occur in the moment without forethought and that have high potential for harm to the individual" (APA, 2013, pp. 49-50). Inattention is often accompanied by disorganization, "seeming not to listen, and losing materials, at levels that are inconsistent with age or developmental level" (APA, 2013, p. 53). It is expected that at least six identified problematic markers in a single category (e.g. "hyperactive-impulsive") are present in at least two settings; they have been present for at least six months and were present before age twelve. The markers of ADHD and the compromised performance may often persist "into adulthood, with resultant impairments of social, academic and occupational functioning" (APA, 2013, p. 3). Three subtypes are specified: hyperactive whilst impulsive, inattentive, and a combination of all three. Other specifiers include severity and if in partial remission. Similarly, the disorder is called "trouble déficit de l'attention/ hyperactivité (TDAH)" and is found under the category "troubles neurodéveloppementaux" in the French translation "DSM-5: manuel diagnostique et statistique des troubles mentaux" (APA, 2015, pp. 33-75).

In comparison, the World Health Organization manual called the "International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems 10th Revision" (ICD-10) organizes disorder by codes. ADHD has the code "F90.0" and appears under the sub-categories "Disturbance of activity and attention (F90.0)" and "Hyperkinetic disorders (F90)" which fall under the larger sub-category of "Behavioural and emotional disorders with onset usually occurring in childhood and adolescence (F90-F98)" (World Health Organization [WHO], 2016). Other aliases by which the disorder goes are attention deficit disorder with hyperactivity and attention deficit syndrome with hyperactivity (2016). The French "La Classification internationale des maladies" or CIM has

the corresponding code of "F90.0" for its "Perturbation de l'activité et de l'attention" under the categories of "Troubles du comportement et troubles émotionnels apparaissant habituellement durant l'enfance et l'adolescence (F90-F98)" and "Troubles hyperkinétiques (F90)" (l'Organisation mondiale de la santé [OMS], 2008). The criteria correspond to those listed above for the ICD-10. This concludes conventional definitions of ADHD; alternate ones appear in Chapter 4's discussion.

Conventional Treatments

In terms of routine care for children with ADHD, two main methods are in the foreground. "To date, there are two evidence-based treatments for children with ADHD, medication (mostly stimulants) and behavioral treatments" (van der Oord et al., 2012, p. 139), which have shown some effectiveness (van de Weijer-Bergsma et al., 2012). Other methods may only be briefly mentioned in articles within the scope of the research. For example, "cognitive behavioral treatments do not meet criteria for empirical support; long term effects are limited and generalization of the learned skills to other settings than the therapy setting is often low" (van der Oord et al., 2012, p. 139).

Medical Drugs. With the goal of relieving symptoms of ADHD, Singh et al. (2010) indicate that "Pharmacotherapy is the standard treatment for ADHD, with the stimulants (i.e., methylphenidate, amphetamine) being the first choice of drugs" (p. 157). Specifically, "Research evidence suggests that the average effect size for stimulants (0.9 for immediate release and 0.95 for long acting) is much higher than for non-stimulants (0.62)" (Faraone, 2003, as cited in Singh et al., 2010, pp. 157-158). Singh et al. (2010) also convey evidence that "the non-stimulant, atomoxetine, may be moderately effective" (p. 158). Abdesslem et al. (2019) state: "Although stimulant drugs can be considered as relatively effective, a growing proportion of physicians and parents are concerned about both the costs and the side-effects from such treatment" (p. 20). Stimulant medication would not remedy all ADHD-type issues (Huguet et al., 2017). Drawbacks

include the use of an external agent for behavior regulation with physical and emotional side effects (Singh et al., 2010). Likewise, Harrison et al. (2004) note that stimulants may produce addiction with unknown long-term effects. There is "concern relating to the escalating use of stimulants in the management of ADHD symptoms, treatment acceptability, side effects, potential long-term effects, danger of drug abuse and dependency"; some side effects are cited as "insomnia, appetite loss, stomach-aches, dizziness and daytime drowsiness, in addition to emotional and motor symptoms" (Harrison et al., 2004, pp. 480-481). Taken together with the problems above, many ADHD issues remain throughout the lifetime—not having been relieved with medication (Modesto-Lowe et al., 2015).

Behavioral Parent Training (BPT). According to van der Oord et al. (2012), for childhood cases of ADHD, the most common form of behavioral training is actually for parents. Inconsistent parenting—higher in parents also dealing with their own symptoms of ADHD—has been connected to susceptibility to ADHD symptoms for children with such a genetic predisposition (van de Weijer-Bergsma et al., 2012). BPT is an approach aimed at assisting parents to cease tension-producing cycles of "parent—child interaction. BPT primarily emphasizes social contingencies in which the parent provides positive reinforcement for the child's prosocial behavior and ignores or punishes negative behavior by nonphysical discipline techniques such as removal of privileges or time out" (Lee et al., 2012, p. 2041). However, as van der Oord et al. (2012) mention, ADHD tends to run in families, and if parents have the diagnosis, it is not surprising that they show a tendency to not have persisted with training; "ADHD is highly heritable and a diagnosis of ADHD of parents is a predictor of non-response" to BPT (p. 145). Furthermore, BPT "has been investigated predominantly in preadolescent children, and effects for adolescents seem lower" (van de Weijer-Bergsma et al., 2012, p. 776).

In sum, "Evidenced-based psychosocial (behavioral) and pharmacological interventions are the two most frequently utilized treatments for ADHD. While effective, both treatment approaches have limitations, including lack of significant effects on some key outcomes" especially academic success and "executive functioning" (Chimiklis et al., 2018, p. 3155). "In both of these approaches, pharmacotherapy and behavior therapy, treatment is provided to the children by external agents, a physician or parents trained in behavior management. Although effective, there are inherent limitations to both approaches" (Singh et al., 2010, p. 158). The two approaches are sometimes used together with more benefit than if used separately, although the results had not persisted when assessed 3 years later (Singh et al., 2010). "Thus, Gimpel (2008) has advocated the alternative approach of stimulating the brain by a combination of physical and mental exercises; in addition to direct favorable effects upon ADHD, such an approach would carry many other important health benefits" (Abdesslem et al., 2019, p. 20). Combined methods of physical and mental activation could lead to approaches discussed in this paper. In short, there is room for varied research pathways, be they apart from or in conjunction with medication or BPT (Lee et al., 2012).

Problem Statement and Objectives

While being mindful of associated risk factors, the intent of this research was to explore the literature to find what could come of utilizing AT with meditation for children diagnosed with ADHD and their caretakers, including possible benefits or drawbacks. This was due to not yet finding peer-reviewed, published articles that report on this exact combination of subjects and the potential synergy. Given that, not infrequently, pharmacological prescriptions for ADHD have been found to insufficiently reduce symptoms and/or to cause significant side effects (Mitchell et al., 2015), that there can be serious concerns for caretakers when giving these children such medications, sometimes for those as young as two years old (Armstrong, 2017, p. 4), and that

customary parental behavioral training may fall through (van der Oord et al., 2012), pharmacology and such training are not where intervention options begin and end.

The main objective was the review of literature that may develop a new understanding of the feasibility of a multi-modal AT and meditation approach for children diagnosed with ADHD and their caretakers. The objective of Chapter 2 was to discuss the methodology including steps in procedure, databases and search terms, inclusion and exclusion criteria, data collection and extraction, and ethics. Chapter 3's literature review subsequently concentrated on ADHD and the two modalities for data extraction; for clarity's sake, sections were divided up by meditation types where applicable. Where caretakers were included in the actual interventions, relevant subheadings were assigned. Therein, the articles within the inclusion criteria revealed through searching the literature are introduced. Chapter 4's discussion covered the synthesized findings concerning the primary research question, subsidiary topics, limitations, and future directions. Finally, Chapter 5 and the Appendix on Erikson's Psychosocial Stages (Berk, 2012) have concluded the paper.

Chapter 2. Method

Overview of Methodology

This chapter explores the rationale and procedures for a theoretical inquiry to answer the primary research question: What might be the benefits of pairing art therapy with meditation for children who have been diagnosed with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) and their primary caretakers? The subsidiary research question is: What definitions and risk factors are associated with ADHD? This qualitative study is theoretical-bibliographical, a methodology which calls for "The collection, analysis, and synthesis of the significant empirical, qualitative, and/or other research done on a chosen subject. The purpose of this type of research is to organize and structure, as yet, non-synthesized areas of study, and to identify topics in need of future

clarification" (Concordia University, 2015, p. 7). Among other methodologies which employ a single case interview, embody an author's own heuristic experience, or produce quantitative data through a controlled experiment, to name a few examples, bibliographical has been chosen because it is a perfect fit for the researcher's aim: to enable the exploration of ideas and outcomes that the expansive, worldwide literature both past and present hold. The methodology has helped to answer the research question through piecing together, comparing, and contrasting the relevant data available in 25 articles within search criteria. Whereas, other methodologies were too constrictive, not feasible, or not appropriate for the present research question. A bibliographical method employs immersion into existing research and the linking of vital results. The goal was to explore and build upon what has already been done in order to highlight the need for a synthesis of topics. A chief way to do so is by carefully sifting through, collecting, and coding relevant published, peer-reviewed contributions of others via inclusion criteria. Data is then analyzed and synthesized to envision what potential benefits are created by pairing modalities for the population.

In sum, the motivation for choosing this method was to begin addressing a gap in the literature by bringing together material currently available without running an experiment or proposing an intervention; the rationale was also to help create a springboard for future research on these combined topics. Specifically, the chosen methodology is a type of extended literature review as cited in Gilroy (2006):

The first step in many research projects is a bibliographic search for literature relevant to the topic and a review of what has been found. This is, in itself, a form of historical research because the review requires the identification and analysis of past work—the literature *is* the data. (p. 104)

While there have been various recent systematic reviews surveying methods used to assist those with ADHD or their caretakers, the researcher's methodology differs from such meta-analyses in that the categories of data extracted, analyzed, and synthesized through coding were not strictly fixed and predetermined (other than the topics of ADHD, AT, and meditation) and arose from the articles themselves.

Steps in Procedure

To begin, online search engines and peer-reviewed articles were determined to be the resources engaged for the data extraction as applied to the Modalities and ADHD section of Chapter 3—including the reference pages of articles (noted whenever used). A record of search terms and inclusion/exclusion criteria was detailed. Next, the three subject areas (i.e. both modalities and ADHD) were researched, especially where they partially intersected. In this way, the primary and subsidiary research questions were addressed. Further, the inquiry as to whether or not attentional difficulties make participation in interventions impracticable for these children individually or in groups—was considered. Finally, data was extracted and synthesized according to a method of qualitative analysis through open, axial, and selective coding as outlined by Neuman (2006). According to the author, the initial stage involves being immersed in the data and noting important points from the reading through highlighting and taking notes via sticky notes, index cards or computerized notes (Neuman, 2006). Such open coding consists of allowing categories to emerge by identifying "critical terms, central people, key events, or themes"; the list of codes is flexible and may be reworked as new information is revealed "from deep inside the data" (Neuman, 2006, p. 461). Next, axial codes develop from immersion in the open codes themselves while researchers notice links during "a 'second pass' through the data"; linking may take the form of organizing open codes under themes and sub-themes, abstractions, and cause and effect

relationships (Neuman, 2006, p. 462). New inquiries may result from linking and cause researchers to reconsider existing themes and codes. In the final stage, specific instances are sought in the data for support of the established, central themes, i.e. axial codes (Neuman, 2006). These specific sources can be compared and contrasted and serve to develop the themes and interactions among them. The instances are called selective codes (Neuman, 2006).

Databases and Search Terms

For the formal data extraction process, systematic searches concentrated on the Discovery search engine of Concordia University; to download articles, this engine frequently accesses PubMed and ProQuest. Also, the Atrium and Sofia search engines of l'Université de Montréal and TÉLUQ as well as the PsycINFO database (of PsycNET) were occasionally consulted. Relevant journals also searched were *The Arts in Psychotherapy* offered via Elsevier ScienceDirect CRKN and journals offered through Taylor & Francis Online, namely *Arts & Health: An International Journal for Research, Policy and Practice* and *Art Therapy: Journal of the American Art Therapy Association.* It was noted when additional sources were gleaned from articles' reference lists.

Additional sources informing the paper's general material (i.e. not data extraction and synthesis) were as follows: excluded articles, relevant AT and psychology course readings, e.g. articles and the books by Berk (2012) and Hinz (2009), and the reference lists of all the above. Such sources included psychodynamic perspectives on attention deficits and intergenerational trauma research (Knight, 2017; Muhlegg, 2016; Silverman & Lieberman, 1999; Waska, 2014, 2015). A limited number of relevant, timely sources and their antecedent bibliographic sources were used to reflect on the general topics, e.g. Schwarz (2014) and the book by Armstrong (2017). The DSM-5 and the ICD-10 were employed among other sources to define the clinical states.

Subject search terms in English and French included *ADHD*, art therapy, meditation, attention deficit, attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder, hyperactivity, hyperkinesis, hyperkinetic, trouble d'attention et hyperactivité, TDAH, hyperkinésie, hyperkinétique, art-thérapie, and meditation. The Boolean operator "and" was used to link and narrow the topics. Search terms¹ were entered into the search fields and advanced search fields. Further delimiters were then applied through the search system and the review of articles according to the following criteria.

Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

Inclusion Criteria

Relevant peer-reviewed articles included were qualitative and quantitative in nature, e.g. pilot studies. Articles published in English and French were the focus. The date range was limited to the last twenty years, expanded from ten years. The range served to find enough but not too much data with a variety of approaches beyond current trends. The only exception outside the range was Henley (1998), an antecedent based in AT practice that was important for some studies also being examined (Cheng, 2016; Habib & Ali, 2015; Lee & Liu, 2016) and cited by 79 sources on Google Scholar. In terms of reliability and validity, high quality research was prioritized. Tracy (2010) outlined eight "big tent" criteria for excellent qualitative research.

-

¹ A note about method and terms: the researcher employed an exploratory, bottom-up approach. Initial searches and area of interest involved ADHD, AT, and guided imagery, but various types of meditation were revealed, with an abysmal amount on guided imagery itself. Therefore, it was necessary to widen the net to ADHD, AT, and the more general category of "meditation" in order to find whatever was out there—maybe only a speck of research, if anything. The researcher did not then look for specific versions or techniques of AT or meditation, as the researcher wanted to include all relevant studies; so, searches did not include specific terms, e.g. "transcendental meditation" (i.e. a method based on "the ancient Vedic tradition"; Orme-Johnson, & Walton, 1998, p. 299; Travis & Pearson, 2000) or "anthroposophic art therapy" (i.e. "founded by Rudolf Steiner and Ita Wegman"; Hamre et al., 2010, p. 240). Searches were limited to published, peer-reviewed articles and sources derived from reference lists. Thus, the researcher had not come across the specific topic of Mindfulness-Based Art Therapy (MBAT) intervention-type research until told of a prior Concordia research paper focusing on children ages six to twelve with ADHD (Jin, 2017). While the study approaches this target topic, both papers are unique and differ greatly. Jin (2017) writes that there was no research available on MBAT for young children with ADHD and hypothesizes about a specific intervention. Whereas, this current bibliographic methodology addresses children of all ages diagnosed with ADHD and adult caregivers. The wide net caught various kinds of AT and meditation.

Furthermore, the criteria included the population under age 18 identified as having ADHD. If there was no formal diagnosis or the diagnostic situation was not clarified, the article was not excluded when relevant. In searches, distressed youth were prioritized over other clientele if the study did not focus solely on ADHD. Studies were included if primary caretakers directly participated in interventions too. In short, children of all ages with adult caregivers fit the inclusion criteria. In terms of interventions, various AT and meditation methods were included.

Exclusion Criteria

Pertinent articles beyond the twenty-year range were not part of the data extraction, with one exception. Certainly, articles or publications not peer-reviewed, duplicates, student research, dissertations/theses, and conference or symposium abstracts were part of the exclusion criteria. While the inclusion criteria comprised all meditation, Mind Subtraction Meditation (Yoo et al., 2016) may not compliment AT as the researcher has experienced it due to emotion erasure rather than AT's exploration, acceptance, and processing of emotions. Also, meta-analyses and articles primarily about diagnostic tools were utilized for sections of the paper other than the data extraction of the literature review.

Furthermore, in terms of population samples, subclinical ADHD was not the focus. Articles about other disorders, whether mental or physical, but with no significant connection to the population, AT, or meditation were excluded. Sources primarily about other Creative Arts Therapies (CATS), schema therapy, ecotherapy, dialectical behavior therapy, exercise, dance, martial arts, and bouldering were similarly excluded. However, if a multi-faceted program for ADHD encompassed AT or meditation as a primary component (according to subjective decision), it was not excluded if there was a movement component such as mindful walking or Sahaja yoga.

Data Collection and Extraction

The primary search through Concordia's online library Discovery search engine for the keywords *ADHD* and *art therapy* and *meditation* revealed 548 sources. When the results were limited to the peer-reviewed digital collection and the format of academic journals, results were reduced to 170. 163 remained when further selecting the date range of 2000-2020 and omitting articles not published primarily in English or French (e.g. with only an abstract in English but the rest in Hungarian). Finally, reading through the titles and abstracts revealed that there were many irrelevant studies, e.g. on vocal training or on eurythmy therapy with brief mention of AT. Other similar searches, e.g. using the keywords *attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder* and *art therapy* and *meditation*, were conducted in the same manner. 25 articles remained within the search criteria for data extraction related to the primary research question.

The researcher downloaded and labeled articles as such: authors (year) study name.pdf and kept the files on a USB key in a folder labeled "Research Readings" within a folder called "Research Paper" and in corresponding back-up folders on Google Drive. When reading the pdf files, with Adobe Acrobat Reader's highlight and sticky note functions the researcher open coded—beginning with the search terms listed above in this paper. The following information was considered for open coding: ADHD information, intervention types (i.e. AT, arts-based, meditation-based), research participant demographic information, whether there was a movement component, intervention delivery (e.g. group), voluntary participation, methodology, caretaker participation in interventions, caretaker or teacher ratings, study location, and benefits or drawbacks. Demographic information included age ranges, median age, genders, cultural and racial identities, and socio-economic status. ADHD information denoted if the study was only for those diagnosed with ADHD and the number of participants identified as having ADHD. Many other codes came about through open coding such as peer-mediated, student stress, downtime,

stress relief, easily learned, teacher reports, parent-child relationship, better sleep, less anxiety, happier, and so on.

The search function of Excel assisted in the process of finding common open codes in order to develop themes through axial coding. Examples of axial codes were: Current treatments, Dangers of medication, Alternatives sought, Systemic approaches, Outcomes. Specific examples in the text were recorded with page numbers and authors' names for the selective coding, e.g. teacher reports (BRIEF) of exec. func. improved: Grosswald et al. (pp. 7-8). The open, axial, and selective coding was kept in a Microsoft Excel file labeled "Research"; tabbed worksheets made Excel an efficient choice for storage of data and searches in a virtual file cabinet. Articles suitable for inclusion criteria were summarized in this paper in the section labeled "Literature Review."

Ethics

For all stages of investigation, the contextual frame of research was considered through the technique of bracketing; it assists with considering the possible effects of bias from past experience or elsewhere which may possibly cause reductionism, generalization, or misunderstanding. For example, hearsay may prescribe that these children are tremendously difficult due to inborn properties and only strong medication renders them manageable to parents and teachers. Whereas, the researcher's intention is to, with curiosity, analyze the literature on the population and modalities. Aspects to bracket, to name a few, are an investigator's demographic identifiers such as age, cultural background(s), race(s), physical and mental health status, political perspectives, sex, socio-economic status, and views, e.g. studying from a Western viewpoint in Canada. The researcher has incorporated a bracketed, open, and thorough approach at all stages. For example, one lens was prior teaching experiences with caution around both the diagnostic category and the now commonplace way of dealing with it. The researcher recognized that after the experience of

teaching studio arts and studying art therapy, there was a bias that the arts and AT can be powerful and beneficial for many people. By the same token, having learned and utilized meditations, the researcher was aware of benefits such as a potential for developing a balanced life.

In further maintaining an ethical frame, relevant standards (i.e. codes) for AT, counselling, and psychotherapy were respected. The principles concerning research as outlined by professional associations (American Art Therapy Association [AATA], 2013; Association des art-thérapeutes du Québec Inc. [AATQ], 2019; Canadian Art Therapy Association [CATA], 2003-2004; Canadian Counselling and Psychotherapy Association [CCPA], 2020) have informed this paper and have been upheld. To name a few ethical codes, researchers have the responsibility to act in an ethical manner as specified by relevant laws, regulations, standards, and principles and to respect the rights of those who submitted research (AATA, 2013; CCPA, 2020). Therefore, appropriate credit was given to others who have contributed their ideas and research in academic journals and who have shared in any other manner (CATA, 2003-2004). Also embodied were principles of respect for the population (e.g. in collecting and analyzing data) and of concern for potential impacts of research on direct or indirect participants; research was conducted with respect for their dignity and welfare (AATO, 2019).

Chapter 3. Literature Review

Within this chapter, articles meeting the inclusion criteria are reviewed. The sources reveal aspects related to the primary research question. First, in order to familiarize readers, condensed summaries are displayed in this chapter's literature review. The sections of the chapter are organized by: modalities as used with the population or when used together. The subheadings are examples of overarching axial codes which emerged from the data and which serve to categorize

articles. Second, the data synthesis of common themes follows in Chapter 4, as does research on the subsidiary question of definitions and risk factors associated with ADHD.

Modalities and ADHD

Art therapy + ADHD + Meditation

In the literature to date, a published article on this precise topic has not yet been found with the present search criteria. However, there is some intersection of topics, e.g. meditation-based studies on ADHD sometimes include an art component but not AT, specifically. Some papers may approach the target topic but do not cover it. The study by Kim et al. (2014) on AT combined with breath meditation for depressed and anxious adolescents has been the closest thus far. It must be included in the AT + Meditation section as it does not focus on ADHD. The social-work-oriented writings of Coholic and colleagues (Coholic, 2011; Coholic & Eys, 2016; Coholic et al., 2009; Coholic et al., 2012a; Coholic et al., 2012b; Coholic et al., 2020; Lougheed & Coholic, 2018) also approach this topic but do not focus exclusively on ADHD and do not specifically use AT, but rather arts-based mindfulness. These studies appear in the ADHD + meditation section, as some participants were identified as having ADHD.

ADHD + Art Therapy

Studies which lend support for AT with this population include the mixed-methods publication by Liao and Liu (2012). The authors introduce a six-session program that seems to be in Taiwan for children ages six to nine with ADHD. The AT interventions allowed for "exposure to cues provoking anger in a less threatening manner and allowed children to contain escalating unpleasant emotions and physiological hyperactivity, leaving mental space for self-awareness; emotional diaries and visual imagination helped the children to recount the stories" (Liao & Liu,

2012, p. S302). Test-retest measurements of both anger and internalizing/externalizing capacity showed there were differences between the pre- and post-test scores. "Qualitative analysis of children's drawings demonstrated the progress of coping from aggression (e.g. a burning volcano to kill everyone) to soothing mastering. The study provided supports for effectiveness of art therapy" (Liao & Liu, 2012, p. S302).

A quantitative approach to studying AT as used with children with ADHD comorbid with intellectual disability was taken by the authors Habib and Ali (2015). For this controlled study in Pakistan, a group of fourteen children aged six to twelve participated (Habib & Ali, 2015). The experimental group received 25 AT sessions, e.g. with the use of free drawing, and there was a waitlist control group. While the co-morbid status of participants complicates conclusions, the test-retest components reflected an improvement for the experimental condition on impulsivity via the "Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder Test" and "Human Figure Drawing" assessment (Habib & Ali, 2015). The authors concluded that "art therapy might be one of the most single effective therapies to help children and adults to concentrate, slow down and stabilize" (Habib & Ali, 2015, p. 30) and noted that Henley (1998) found support for AT and its sublimation of destructive impulses with behavioral regulation. The therapist who was a part of this study witnessed the unique art expressions of the children while moods tended to stabilize (Habib & Ali, 2015).

The article written by art therapist Henley (1998) detailed an on-going "therapeutic and socialization program" offered to children with ADHD "up to latency age" (i.e. ages six to eleven); groups employing "free play, group discussion, and an expressive arts activity" meet for two hours twice a week (p. 2). AT interventions such as drawing, painting, clay, and group collage were employed; meetings likely occur in the U.S. The author used vignettes to describe participants; in terms of methodology, the detailed clinical record-keeping process was outlined, i.e. the therapist's

impressions of motivation, participation, sublimation, and improvement that were shared with a psychiatrist and the parents. Henley (1998) concluded there is "support for an integrated, multimodal approach to ADHD, which, I believe, has more potential for effectively addressing children's problems than isolated approaches. The expressive arts, in particular, can facilitate and enhance the effectiveness of all the other interventions" (p. 11). The program was delivered "in concert with behavioral, cognitive, psychodynamic and medical approaches" (Henley, 1998, p. 2). So too has Hamre et al. (2010) delivered AT within a much larger framework, that of "a complementary system of medicine" called anthroposophic medicine (AM; p. 240). For 61 children ages three to sixteen with ADHD in Germany, the study was comprised of AT for twelve 45-minute sessions offered once a week as well as eurythmy, tailored medications, and massage therapy; core symptoms of ADHD (i.e. inattention, hyperactivity, and impulsivity) showed improvements that were maintained at 24-month follow-up (Hamre, 2010).

With a different design, Lee and Liu (2016), conducted a pilot study for fourteen weeks on AT with six children aged six to ten with special educational needs (SEN) in Hong Kong; four children had ADHD co-occurring with other issues. One-a-week sessions lasted 75 minutes and utilized drawing, painting, and clay work. Lee and Liu (2016) incorporated information from Henley (1998) while comparing results therein. Positive changes were observed in the children's autonomy and competence in-session whereas fewer changes were observed in relatedness; while pre- and post-test measures did not show much change, parents' ratings affirmed that "art therapy had improved the emotional and behavioral adjustment of their children" (Lee & Liu, 2016, p. 24). One mother noted her son's new confidence as he began to willingly perform music for the family when invited (p. 28).

Art Therapy + Meditation

AT + Breathing Meditations. One rare example of combining modalities with a related population would be the publication of Kim et al. (2014) on AT and breath meditation as used with 24 depressed and anxious adolescent boys in a public-school setting. While children with ADHD may indeed experience such comorbid symptomology and while ADHD may often persist through the life stages of adolescence and adulthood as noted by Huguet et al. (2017), this article by Kim et al. (2014) did not focus on ADHD. The control group study took place in South Korea with two experimental conditions, i.e. group AT with breath meditation or group AT alone; the study spanned about five months for a total of thirteen sessions and primarily focused on drawing. The boys voluntarily participated and experienced decreased stress (Kim et al., 2014). Subjective well-being increased more for the first group, but the second group's scores increased more than those of the control group; also, group work fostered growth as portrayed in vignettes (Kim et al., 2014).

AT + Guided Imagery Meditations. The random, controlled trial of Ciasca et al. (2018) in Brazil used guided imagery and AT with a very different population, namely depressed, elderly women. Ciasca et al. (2018) proposed the study because they believed "active engagement in creative activities, including art, can bring many benefits, including improved well-being, quality of life, health, and socialization" (p. 256). These positive aspects of life may be greatly reduced when someone is facing depression. Ciasca et al. (2018) wanted to test their idea that "the therapeutic function of art is related to the possibility of concretization of thoughts, feelings, desires, and the facts of life using expressive resources [...] which mobilize several aspects of the human mind: cognition, the sensorimotor system, emotions, and intuition" (p. 256). For the experimental group (EG), ninety-minute AT sessions were given once a week for twenty weeks. According to Ciasca et al. (2018), after a short, guided imagery and relaxation technique used to help place clients in the "here and now," themes surrounding self-esteem, loss, control, and coping

were employed; in addition to seed mandalas, rock art, and soda straws, "techniques such as painting, drawing, clay modeling, weaving, and collage were used" (p. 259). While Ciasca et al. (2018) found that there were no differences between the EG and control group (CG) in cognitive improvement, the EG's depression and anxiety were reduced. The inclusion of a relaxation exercise for the EG may limit conclusions; the results may be due to an interaction of the relaxation/guided imagery and AT or due to one or the other exclusively (Ciasca et al., 2018).

AT + Mindfulness Meditations. Kalmanowitz and Ho (2016) adapted therapeutic interventions to meet the needs of refugees (number of participants indeterminate) from seven countries living in Hong Kong at the time; a short-term, intensive, and inclusive studio approach to AT and meditation was found to be more suitable than a long-term intervention. Within an eightday period, two full-day, eight-hour workshops took place; it seemed that only adults participated. Mindfulness meditation was employed; Coholic (2011) presented the Eastern origins of mindfulness meditation which are relayed in the next section. Within this "Inhabited Studio" of Kalmanowitz and Ho (2016), nine features of combining meditation and AT were observed and qualitatively conveyed through vignettes in the article: "safety, doing versus thinking, changing our relationship to our thoughts and feelings, the notion of time in the context of trauma, change and making meaning, flexibility, catharsis, increased self-awareness and self knowledge, coping with loss" (p. 59). Within this study, Kalmanowitz and Ho (2016) conveyed the view that the context of AT with meditation was found to be important and complimentary as difficult memories may arise when encountering traumas through artwork when alone and outside of the studio; plus, the mindfulness helped to re-center clients in the current time and location of safety.

In contrast, while thick with detailed discussion of AT and meditation, the studies of Franklin et al. (2000) and Wardi-Zonna (2020) focused respectively on transpersonal graduate AT

training and on mindful clay work, also part of graduate AT work. Much philosophical and experiential information is gleaned from these educative sources. However, without a group of clients pinpointed as participating in research, these articles are not a focus.

ADHD + Meditation

ADHD + Mindfulness Meditations. Meditation was but one component of the integrative, arts-based mindfulness program of Coholic (2011). "The origins of mindfulness are ancient and as a holistic philosophy, mindfulness is usually attributed to Gautama Siddhartha, the Buddha, about 2,600 years ago" (Coholic, 2011, p. 304). Van de Weijer-Bergsma et al. (2012) also noted that mindfulness practice is rooted in the wisdom of Buddhism and Western psychology. The mindfulness program of Coholic (2011) was offered for more than three years to children in need aged eight to twelve, some of whom were identified as having ADHD. The author stated that "Mindfulness was developed as a holistic teaching whose purpose was to relieve human suffering, to increase compassion and loving-kindness among its practitioners, and to help individuals attain the peace of enlightenment" (Coholic, 2011, p. 304). Jon Kabat-Zinn (Kabat-Zinn, 1990, 1994, as cited in Coholic, 2011, p. 303) is credited with developing early programs in North America; mindfulness is now seen as third wave cognitive-behavioral therapy (CBT). Coholic (2011) found that the adaptation of such a program through the use of arts-based methods enhanced the work with these youth in Canada:

The delivery of mindfulness via arts-based methods appears to make sense for young people in need as these children and youth may not have the abilities or skills to learn a traditional mindfulness practice based on meditation, and through no fault of their own, they also lack skills for the usual talk therapies. (p. 314)

Space did not permit detailed summaries of the seven peer-reviewed articles written by Coholic and colleagues (see References), including the work done by Lougheed and Coholic (2018) with adolescents, as there is some overlap in the writings and as it is necessary to allow for other voices. It should be noted, however, that they have been making what seem to be vital contributions. In their qualitative data-gathering, positive results were seen in the groups according to observations and self-reports, e.g. fostering of peer connections, fun, self-awareness, improved mood, confidence, and arts-facilitated acquisition of skills like meditation and coping.

In another part of the world, a quantitative, control-group study was undertaken with 101 children in elementary-school grades three to five by Tarrasch (2018). The experimental group in Israel participated in mindfulness workshop interventions for ten weeks, while the control group did not. Interventions included "Breathing awareness," "Walking meditation," and "Meditation bubble," among others (Tarrasch, 2018, p. 2635). The attentional capacities "Sustained Attention" and "Selective Attention" were examined via test-retest measures, i.e. "two computerized tasks of attention" called "Continuous performance task" and "Conjunctive visual search task," on which the experimental group showed improvement (Tarrasch, 2018, pp. 2635-2637). The author wrote of "Sharing experiences during mindful eating [...] Practice during the week the own safe peaceful place, draw it, and vividly remember it in stressful situations" (Tarrasch, 2018, p. 2635). Here, artmaking had been incorporated but not specifically AT approaches, per se.

With a much smaller sample and shorter test period, a test-retest pilot study with no control group was conducted in Spain by Huguet et al. (2017). Five children aged "7-12 years newly diagnosed with ADHD received an eight-week group-based mindfulness treatment. The program consisted of once-per-week sessions lasting 75 minutes and daily homework assignments" (Huguet et al., 2017, p. 305). The group interventions consisted of a breathing meditation and a walking

meditation; the latter was paired with a homework assignment of mandala painting. The researchers note that drawing and painting mandalas are common AT interventions (Huguet et al. (2017). For example, a 1996 AT mandala drawing study of children with ADHD was cited by Habib and Ali (2015), authors mentioned above. As with the study done by Tarrasch (2018), there could conceivably be room for AT in sessions by further developing and supporting arts-based components, according to the researcher's view. While the results are to be interpreted with caution, Huguet et al. (2017) recorded improved scores for executive functioning through a list of surveys, computerized tests, cognitive flexibility card tests, and interviews. This study's "assessments included pre- and post-test measure of psychiatric symptoms and cognitive functioning" (Huguet et al., 2017, p. 305); "furthermore, no side effects were observed and treatment was well-accepted by families and patients" (p. 314). Another study with a relatively small sample size offered mindfulness meditation training to 23 adolescents and adults (not related) with ADHD in the U.S. (Zylowska et al., 2008); in their pre- and post-test design, the authors tested functions similar to those tested by Huguet et al. (2017). In their often-cited study, Zylowska et al. (2008) stated that "improvements in self-reported ADHD symptoms and test performance on tasks measuring attention and cognitive inhibition were noted. Improvements in anxiety and depressive symptoms were also observed" (p. 737).

Inclusion of Caretakers in Mindfulness Meditations. This study, also cited often, is of particular interest due to its systemic involvement (Singh et al., 2010). According to the authors, common problems encountered when parents care for children with ADHD include strained relations due to reduced compliance to parental direction (Singh et al., 2010). Parents felt dissatisfied with conventional approaches because of the need to "impose external control on the children which not only results in the children not learning self-control strategies, but also does

not enhance positive interactions between them and their parents" (Singh et al., 2010, p. 157). The study involved four participants—two mothers and two children ages ten and twelve—in the U.S., it seems. Comparing the baseline to post-test results, Singh et al. (2010) noticed there were

clear increases in the children's compliance levels during their mother's training in mindfulness, but these were followed by even larger increases after the children received the planned training in mindfulness. Training the children in mindfulness positively enhanced mother–child interactions. (p. 163)

Singh et al. (2010) stated the following: "We suspect that the mindfulness training produces personal transformations, both in parents and children, rather than teaching strategies for changing behavior" (p. 157). The mothers said informally that the meditations were originally "physically and mentally difficult, and foreign to their way of life. Both reported that they would have given up the practice within the first few sessions if they had not personally requested this training" (Singh et al., 2010, p. 162). However, after persisting, enjoyment and anticipation of practice increased with the "calmness and lightness of being that it produced"; meanwhile, relations with spouses and children improved as calm and listening without judgments developed (Singh et al., 2010, p. 163). Children also shared that training was fun and they "were hooked" as they "could remain calm and attentive in school" (Singh et al., 2010, p. 163). Generalizing from small samples is not advisable, but the outcomes and anecdotes herein informed studies such as the next two.

Another systemic mindfulness investigation was the within-group, pre-post study with waitlist by van der Oord et al. (2012) in the Netherlands; they studied children aged eight to twelve diagnosed with ADHD and their parents (N = 22). In light of the authors' assertion that "parenting stress is elevated in parents of children with ADHD" and that "parental overreactivity" is high (p. 140), the outcomes and anecdotal accounts relayed by other authors stand out, e.g. those of Singh

et al. (2010). Positive outcomes from mindfulness training were also reported by van der Oord et al. (2012): reduced ADHD-type symptoms in children and "a significant reduction of parental stress and overreactivity from pre- to follow-up test" (p. 139). In comparison, the non-controlled pre-post design study on mindfulness by van de Weijer-Bergsma et al. (2012) also in the Netherlands trained older children, i.e. 36 adolescents with ADHD, as well as their parents and tutors. Positive outcomes such as reduced paternal parenting stress, reduced adolescent behavioral problems, increased attentional performance, and increased executive function may necessitate regular training as outcomes had waned by the follow-up at sixteen weeks, according to van de Weijer-Bergsma et al. (2012).

ADHD + Sahaja Yoga Meditations. One study on Sahaja meditation training was revealed by the general searches; as with the few mindfulness studies appearing immediately above, the caretakers of youth with ADHD were included in the following intervention.

Inclusion of Caretakers in Sahaja Yoga Meditations. Harrison et al. (2004) studied 44 families—children diagnosed with ADHD, their parents, a sibling, and a grandmother—in a systemic six-week, twice-weekly Sahaja yoga program in Australia. Five to fifteen-minute sessions "to achieve a state of thoughtless awareness" were originally developed by Shri Mataji Nirmala Devi Shrivastava (Harrison et al., 2004, p. 484). In this small-scale, within-group design, the quasi-control waitlist group was included in the second phase of studies (Harrison et al., 2004). Significant positive outcomes were reported for both parent and child; the investigation found that Sahaja may be an effective management tool because signature difficulties of ADHD were reduced while increases in calm and relaxation were reported in children's self-reported data (Harrison et al., 2004). While no evaluations were given by teachers, parents and children reported that "associated symptoms of ADHD, such as anxiety and poor confidence, were reduced; parent

ratings of child self-esteem showed significant improvements in children's confidence, social abilities and involvement. Third, functional benefits were noted, child–parent relationship quality improved" as conflicts reduced (Harrison et al., 2004, p. 491). Meanwhile, concentration, sleep, and attitude towards school improved for these children (Harrison et al., 2004). Two of the authors have notably investigated topics including the physiological (e.g. neurobiological) implications of meditation, ADHD, and depression (Harrison et al., 2004). While movement-based interventions such as yoga were typically excluded from this paper, there is a predominant portion of meditation in this style and in the following approach.

ADHD + Sound and Breathing Meditations with Yoga. The multimodal behavior program tested by Mehta et al. (2011) incorporated yoga, meditation, and behavioral play therapy; the intervention was peer-mediated in that it was implemented by high school volunteers. This controlled, pilot study took place in India for six weeks with 80 children ages six to eleven. Mehta et al. (2011) affirmed that "a low-cost, effective method" of therapy for children diagnosed with ADHD would be helpful in improving "the quality of life for a significant portion of the school age population [...] Ideally, strategies that are culturally familiar would be more acceptable and easier to incorporate" (p. 2). Follow-up teacher and parent ratings were collected for 63 children on overall academic and behavioral performance; as noted by Mehta et al. (2011):

57 of the 63 (90.5%) children had some form of improvement in their performance impairment from this therapy, and more than half the students, 35 of the 63 (55.5%) students, improved to the normal range with no performance impairment reported by teachers. (p. 3)

Furthermore, "Improvement did not really vary by age, gender, or type of diagnosed ADHD" (Mehta et al., 2011, p. 4). Measures of meditation ability were reported: "We compared the

children's ability to control their breathing with their initial impairment in academic performance. We show that children could learn meditation and control their breath irrespective of their initial impairment score" (Mehta et al., 2011, p. 4). Finally, it should be noted that the program was integrated within a public school.

ADHD + Transcendental Meditations. An exploratory, non-controlled, pre-post study in the U.S. by Grosswald et al. (2008) lends support for the use of Transcendental Meditation® (TM) with children ages eleven to fourteen years old with ADHD. Grosswald et al. (2008) concluded that attention, executive function, and overall problematic states improved. They stated that this meditation is unique as it is neither contemplation-based (i.e. non-judgement of mental states as in mindfulness techniques) nor concentration-based (i.e. focused attention on one point), takes little time to learn, and involves effortless transcendence instead of effortful control (Grosswald et al., 2008, pp. 3-4). TM employs a special sound or word (i.e. "mantra") which is said at ever quieter levels (Grosswald et al., 2008, p. 5). So, the authors felt it may be particularly suited to these children upon appraisal of TM and the contemplation- and concentration-based meditation techniques (Grosswald et al., 2008, pp. 3-4). The "portability" and short time to employ the method are emphasized as helpful in dealing with "the epidemic of student stress" (Grosswald et al., 2008, pp. 7-8). For ten participants, regular practice occurred twice daily for ten to fifteen minutes in a school setting; allowing for "downtime" imbued with deep relaxation may have reduced the stress, anxiety, and ADHD symptoms of these students (Grosswald et al., 2008, p. 7). "Statistically significant improvements were noted on both the teacher-rated BRIEF" (Behavior Rating Inventory of Executive Function) and performance tests of attention and executive function (Grosswald et al., 2008, pp. 7-8). In referring back to the emphasis Mehta et al. (2011) placed on low-cost methods, to the researcher's knowledge, TM is not the most inexpensive training.

However, Grosswald et al. (2008) reported an ease of learning the methods on the part of the children with whom they worked.

Chapter 4. Discussion

Art therapy has its roots in primordial art-making (Rubin, 1998; Vick, 2003), and meditation has similarly persisted time immemorial. In recent times, AT has been used with people diagnosed with ADHD. While not a peer-reviewed article, the Hinz (2009) book on the Expressive Therapies Continuum (ETC) is a manual many art therapists and AT students employ in their practices—often as a staple resource. It illustrates individual interventions and case studies. Therein introduced is a series of AT interventions, part of an ADHD case study about eight-year-old Adam; the levels of the ETC were carefully traversed with scribble drawings and house construction (Hinz, 2009, pp. 51-54). As a result, he seemed to be learning valuable life skills, e.g. self-regulation, in the process. To illustrate a preliminary example of the synthesis of findings (but outside the data collection criteria): in the researcher's view, it is conceivable that a form of meditation could be added to the intervention series for Adam so as to work with other core issues.

Guided imagery is outlined in the ETC manual in conjunction with AT (Hinz, 2009). The meditation is also called a "guided daydream" in the manual. Clients may imagine traveling to places such as caves, mountains or lakes, "where they meet with archetypal characters and face situations that must be navigated, revealing their inner resources. After completing the guided imagery journey in imagination, clients can be asked to illustrate three scenes from it" (Hinz, 2009, p. 149). Potential benefits listed in the book are the "realization of internal wisdom and strengths projected onto characters in the story" and the "integration of new strengths" (Hinz, 2009, p. 167). The target population is not specified for this paired intervention. The following section reveals

the intersection of findings from the articles gleaned from focused searches for ADHD, AT, and meditation—the sources outlined in the literature review.

Synthesis of Findings

Due to the gap in the literature concerning studies on the combined topic of ADHD, AT, and meditation as specified by the primary research question, it is impossible to relay any concrete results of such a combination; such research is still needed. No study was found within the search parameters outlined in this paper. It is possible only to present and synthesize important notions, components, and outcomes from the related studies which point to benefits. Grounded in the examined data, the combined topic can only be theoretically discussed. In this section, key concepts—presented as subheadings—arose from the open and axial coding. Selective codes appear as the specific instances from articles. Research on subsidiary topics follows this section.

Multimodal: Art and meditation

Research on meditation sometimes includes an art component. For example, the "Mindful eating" drawing homework component is part of a larger mindfulness training including meditation (Tarrasch, 2018, p. 2635). It is here the researcher identifies a link between meditation and art. One may ask if the drawing component could be brought into an AT setting. Equally, AT could perhaps have been employed after other interventions such as conscious walking outlined by Tarrasch (2018); Lougheed and Coholic (2018) used an arts-based approach, but not AT specifically, at that very juncture.

Coholic (2011) used an adjusted mindfulness training for youth with an array of difficulties, for a few this meant ADHD; the training was shorter and more frequent than an adult-oriented kind. Arts-based interventions appeared to have increased the accessibility and delivery

of mindfulness programming for the youth who may lack the skills or ability to learn to use this kind of meditation (Coholic, 2011). Art therapist Henley (1998) may mirror this support for an integrative creative arts approach to ADHD when noting that the arts have the potential to enable and enrich other routes. Henley (1998) concluded that there is "support for an integrated, multimodal approach to ADHD, which, I believe, has more potential for effectively addressing children's problems than isolated approaches. The expressive arts, in particular, can facilitate and enhance the effectiveness of all the other interventions" (p. 9). This could conceivably support the use of AT and meditation in unison, especially considering the utility of guided imagery is highlighted by Henley (1998). Similarly, following a discussion of music therapy in a metaanalysis on meditation for adolescents, Cheng (2016) concluded: "Mindfulness-based interventions can likewise be infused into art therapy, which shows positive indicators related to attention deficit hyperactivity disorder [...] This synthesis would further extend the versatility of art therapists" (p. 16). While meta-analyses were part of the exclusion criteria for the literature review, this comment and one by Modesto-Lowe et al. (2015) in the Meditation Types category below were pertinent and included to inform these discussions.

Two other key ideas became apparent for the children's participation: voluntary and group-based. The study by Kim et al. (2014) included these features. To recap, in their study, the drawing component was in fact AT, and the meditation was breath-based (Kim et al., 2014). Whereas, the Coholic (2011) study employed the arts-based methods of painting, clay work, and drawing, e.g. "Feelings Inventory," as well as guided imagery and sitting, eating, walking, and breathing meditations (p. 309). The group dynamics for both studies changed over time to provide fun or mutual support—two other key notions. It is left unanswered how those groups may have fared had participation been involuntary. Group participation, also an aim of Henley (1998), in both

studies served as a challenge at first that evidently evolved to have more apparent benefits than drawbacks.

Socialization

Whether articles focused on art or mediation, a variable entering into the consideration of the primary research question was socialization. Be they small or large groups, as just mentioned above and in the other studies by Coholic and colleagues (Coholic & Eys, 2016; Coholic et al., 2009; Coholic et al., 2012a; Coholic et al., 2012b; Coholic et al., 2020; Lougheed & Coholic, 2018), be they peer-mediated interventions (Mehta et al., 2011), or be they the systemic, parentchild approaches of Singh et al. (2010), Harrison et al. (2004), van der Oord et al. (2012) and van de Weijer-Bergsma et al. (2012), the adaptive benefits of expanding participation in interventions beyond an individual are illustrated. One caveat Coholic et al. (2012b) highlight is that their groups were not entirely composed of children diagnosed with ADHD in order to aid feasibility of implementation and delivery of interventions. Also, optimal group size for them fell between five and twelve children with four facilitators on duty (Coholic et al., 2012b). Considering how ADHD in children is not isolated to them but rather affects caretakers, teachers, classmates, and others in society, the development of social involvement was evident in the literature, both as a contextual factor and as an outcome. If combining AT and meditation for this population, it may be important to consider socialization components and variables.

In terms of parent participation, some participant observations relayed by Harrison et al. (2004) begin with a mother stating, "I truly understand how me meditating and becoming more relaxed has helped my son 150% because he feeds off a calmer mum." Parents also said they had used meditation at home to help deal with difficult situations" (p. 491). Thus, further key concepts were household engagement, instructions, and intensity; instructions were given to parents for

home implementation as part of intensive treatment (i.e. twice daily; Harrison et al., 2004, p. 492). The researcher notes that such modeling in the home by parents might support a child's overall growth through teaching self regulation, problem-solving, and organizational skills—useful for living within the larger society. In no way negating interventions for individuals, socialization was an important component of the AT and meditations studied and likely for this population. Such multi-person involvement could lead to the next topic.

Relational Improvements

Harrison et al. (2004) discussed attachment in light of beneficial parent-child outcomes: "a decrease in ADHD symptoms was strongly correlated with an increase in CPRS scores, that is, less conflicted (more secure) parent–child interaction" (p. 490). Singh et al. (2010) also noted positive parent-child interactions, discussed in detail in the next section. After the Sahaja yoga meditation interventions, there was better stress management, and parent-child relationships were less characterized by angry conflicts (Harrison et al., 2004). A possible key notion is parents' increased sense of competence with ADHD (Harrison et al., 2004, p. 493). The shared home use of the techniques (mentioned in the section immediately above) also could contribute to improved relationships. Given that parents already tend to be under mental and emotional strain when ADHD-like symptoms present in a child (van der Oord et al., 2012; van de Weijer-Bergsma et al., 2012), reduced financial stressors could be beneficial. A key concept noted in some studies was the benefit of low-cost alternatives to ADHD medication (Mehta et al., 2011).

Benefits for Caretakers

While overlapping a little with the previous sections, an important intersection of data occurs with respect to caretakers of youth with ADHD, usually parents. Varied positive outcomes

for them were presented after meditation training in four studies (Harrison et al., 2004; Singh et al., 2010; van der Oord et al., 2012; van de Weijer-Bergsma et al., 2012). Three of these studies looked at mindfulness training systemically. With regards to the outcomes of the training for both children with ADHD and their parents, Singh et al. (2010) wrote:

the calmness resulting from sustained personal meditation practice is manifest in the parents in many ways, most commonly in the non-escalation of potentially negative interactions with their children, thus producing peace and calmness in both themselves and their children. Similarly, with loving kindness, parents and children gradually develop unconditional love for each other, and this provides the underpinnings of their social interactions, regardless of the actual content of the interactions, and increases empathy in both parent and child. (p. 164)

In their work with adolescents and their caretakers, van de Weijer-Bergsma et al. (2012) noted reduced "parental overreactivity" in mothers and reduced parenting stress in fathers, with other mixed results (pp. 783-784). For their study on younger children and their caretakers, van der Oord et al. (2012) reported a "significant reduction of parental stress and overreactivity from pre-to follow-up test" (p. 139); furthermore, the authors postulate that parents (perhaps suffering with ADHD themselves) who ordinarily would not seek out treatment could be reached through targeting both child and parent (p. 145). In short, parents may respond instead of react habitually and may make time to "take care of themselves, as this is the basis for parenting" (van der Oord et al., 2012, p. 142).

In that anger and conflicts were more manageable for parents, a greater sense of parenting competence was mentioned by Harrison et al. (2004) after Sahaja yoga meditation training for both parents and children diagnosed with ADHD. As a result, parents reported feeling "happier, less

stressed and more able to manage their child's behaviour" (Harrison et al., 2004, p. 479). Parental calmness, as mentioned above by Singh et al. (2010), was also a feature noted by Harrison et al. (2004); this factor interacted with family relationships in both studies. This research would point to beneficial experiences for caretakers and the importance of including them. What is left unanswered is a definitive response as to how blending such approaches with AT might fare for this population.

ADHD Symptoms & Related Issues

The arts-based and AT studies covered have offered a positive forecast for the use of art with various populations including those diagnosed with ADHD or those with the related issues of student stress (Grosswald et al., 2008), anxiety, or depression in childhood or adolescence (Kim et al., 2014). Specifically, Habib and Ali (2015) have stated that "art therapy might be one of the most single effective therapies to help children and adults to concentrate, slow down and stabilize" (p. 30). Liao and Liu (2012) have reported the key concepts of self-awareness and increased mental space after intense emotional expression and containment through AT. This may lead to the next concept of readiness for meditation; meditation-based intervention studies overall have similarly reported efficacy in addressing some ADHD-related issues. A key concept that sometimes runs through studies and that may bring this research full circle is the ease and feasibility of trainings for these children, peer mediators, parents, and tutors. For example, it would seem that TM is easily learned by these children (Grosswald et al., 2008) but that their mindfulness training could be aided by a multimodal approach with AT (Coholic, 2011).

Meditation Types

While initially it may not have seemed possible to use meditation with such active, restless, and impulsive children, it is interesting to note that after beginning research, it has become apparent that meditation is in fact possible for at least some. Furthermore, it may in fact help with distractibility and sustaining attention—notable outcomes among other improvements that are beginning to be discovered; the use of and research on meditation for ADHD is only in the early stages according to the meta-analysis by Modesto-Lowe et al. (2015). Any kind of meditation may overlap with and incorporate other types of meditation (e.g. by including a component focusing on breathing or guided imagery).

Subsidiary Research Topics

In this section, the subsidiary research question concerning definitions of ADHD and associated risk factors for ADHD are addressed. The question was not bound by the specific inclusion criteria of the database searches; therefore, additional sources were included to assist in painting a more complete picture of definitions presently available. The section has expanded to include etiological concerns as there is some overlap of this area with risk factors. Definitions other than the conventional ones listed in the Introduction were researched and are herein presented. Limitations and future directions follow this section.

Alternate Definitions of ADHD

From his psychodynamic perspective, Waska (2014) ventures that at least some people suffering with attentional disorders are in fact fundamentally "suffering from an object detachment process in which they are overwhelmed with a variety of unconscious relational conflicts, which create internal and external dynamics that in turn create symptoms of inattention, difficulty in

focusing, disorganization, and scattered thinking" (p. 367). The author recommends looking deeper into psychological conflict and attachment in counseling.

When looking upon children as part of ever larger groups, often beginning with family, they are viewed systemically. Family difficulties, be they evident, suppressed, or repressed, could be viewed as outwardly manifesting to the world through a "symptom child" or "enfant symptôme" in French (Feldman, 2013). Finally, Erlandsson and Punzi (2016) suggest that stress parents feel in regards to their own life challenges, while normal, could be absorbed and acted out by children.

On a more philosophical level, it is important to examine the use and validity of the operationalized term ADHD. It can be viewed as a construct made by dominant social forces employing "social constructionism"—which could contribute to stifling heterogeneous representations of existence and grassroots meaning-making of behavior associated with ADHD (Danforth & Navarro, 2001; Patton, 2002, p. 96). Some authors may call into question the labeling of symptoms as ADHD (Armstrong, 2017) or otherwise encourage a comprehensive or strengths-based, holistic view of those diagnosed (Lougheed & Coholic, 2018). Finally, questions of ADHD as a misdiagnosis of giftedness versus dual diagnoses were posed by Mullet and Rinn (2015).

Etiology and Risk Factors

As for etiology, the DSM-5 (2013) lists variables correlated or associated with ADHD (i.e. environmental, genetic, temperamental, physiological) as contributing to the appearance of ADHD symptoms and distinguishes it from other disorders. Specifically, in addition to genes, "ADHD is associated with environmental factors. Prenatal teratogens—such as tobacco, alcohol, illegal drugs, and environmental pollutants—are linked to inattention and hyperactivity" (Berk, 2012).

Alternately, Perry and Szalavitz (2007) suggest that some cases of ADHD may in actuality be post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD). Traumas can be defined as direct and/or

intergenerational. Silverman and Lieberman (1999), Muhlegg (2016), and Knight (2017) describe a psychodynamic process of projective identification, whereby parents unknowingly perpetuate the transmission of disowned, encrypted family traumas and identities they themselves inherited. Parents may unconsciously expect a child to be an extension of the self and thereby seek expression and resolution of trauma or resultant losses vis-à-vis the child. In sum, an intergenerational bequest may unintentionally pass through two generations via symbiotic parent-child identification (Muhlegg, 2016). The trauma can manifest as an indistinct, persistent disturbance that the child will carry in the background or foreground throughout the lifetime (Muhlegg, 2016).

When considering etiology and definitions of what constitutes disorder as compared to natural development (Ronchewski Degorre, 2017), there may be some overlap. Specifically, "authoritative" parenting is considered "the most successful approach" (Berk, 2012, p. 398); an adaptive balance is found as parental control frames a child's developing autonomy. These parents scaffold the child's growth through warmth and care; obedience to such parents can be developmentally supportive and beneficial, e.g. a child learns not to run into traffic through compliance to parental alerts. In contrast, "permissive" parents are "warm and accepting but uninvolved" and neglect setting appropriate boundaries while "authoritarian" parents are "low in acceptance and involvement, high in coercive control, and low in autonomy granting" with a "cold and rejecting" style (Berk, 2012, p. 399). Thus, authoritative parenting is not at either extreme of this spectrum but rather balances boundary-setting for children with support for independence.

While some articles may highlight obedience, the authors of one study qualify their statements: "Total compliance with the mothers' requests was neither expected nor achieved because a certain amount of noncompliance is considered developmentally normal" (Singh et al., 2010, p. 163). While adolescence may often be thought of as the critical period for autonomy,

Erikson's psychosocial approach² of natural human development identifies independence at various stages. Within his eight stages (see Appendix) are the initial stage of "basic trust versus mistrust" and the second stage (ages one to three) of "Autonomy versus shame and doubt" when "children want to decide for themselves. Autonomy is fostered when parents permit reasonable free choice and do not force or shame the child" (Berk, 2012, p. 16). Another passage of independence is in the "Initiative versus guilt" stage from ages three to six (Berk, 2012, p. 16). As with abusive parental figures or with authoritarian ones, demands might be detrimental to a child; nevertheless, compliance may be enforced under threat of harsh punishment³. "If children emerge from the first few years without sufficient trust in caregivers and without a healthy sense of individuality, the seeds are sown for adjustment problems" (Berk, 2012, p. 249). In the long run, "Adults who have difficulty establishing intimate ties, who are overly dependent on a loved one, or who continually doubt their own ability to meet new challenges may not have fully mastered the tasks of trust and autonomy during infancy and toddlerhood" (Berk, 2012, p. 249). This leads the discussion to risks this population faces.

In terms of risk factors, Saneei et al. (2011) intended to show through the arts-based assessment called Draw-A-Person the possible vulnerabilities of children with ADHD—such as anxiety and low self-esteem—as compared to average children. Children were selected and placed into an experimental group of 30 (with a diagnosis of ADHD) or a control group (not diagnosed) of 30 in Iran. "The results revealed significant differences between the performance of the children

_

² Erik Erikson's "life cycle schema was first presented in Childhood and Society (1950, 1963) in a chapter titled, 'Eight Ages of Man'" (Capps, 2004, p. 3). Erikson built upon and revised Freud's theories of childhood development, creating his own framework (Berk, 2012). "In his psychosocial theory, Erikson emphasized that in addition to mediating between id impulses and superego demands, the ego makes a positive contribution to development, acquiring attitudes and skills that make the individual an active, contributing member of society. A basic psychological conflict, which is resolved along a continuum from positive to negative, determines healthy or maladaptive outcomes at each stage" (Berk, 2012, p. 15). This conflict, i.e. crisis, which will normally arise in a developmental stage does not mean "overwhelming stress, but rather a turning point in the life of the individual, when a new problem must be confronted and mastered" (p. 16) If not successfully resolved, the next stage is rendered more challenging (Atalay, 2007).

³ The researcher states emphatically that the intention is not for the present research to be used in an attempt to render youth passive and obedient which could risk interfering with the natural development of the authentic self, as herein outlined in Erikson's stages.

with ADHD and normal children in terms of size and line characteristic (p < 0.05)" of the drawings (Saneei et al., 2011, p. 256). As the authors noted, these children may be at risk not only for relational and academic problems but may have frequent anxiety and low self-esteem (Saneei et al., 2011); this could feed into a negative loop that is difficult to escape. ADHD is present in a portion of suicidal cases, and suicidal risk is elevated approximately three times above controls and typical averages through age 25 (James et al., 2004). Also, in terms of duration, ADHD often persists through the lifespan and is associated with significant adulthood impairment as an array of mood, anxiety, substance use, and impulse control disorders are highly comorbid (Berk, 2012; Huguet et al., 2017; Kessler et al., 2005; Kessler et al., 2006). Finally, the work by Harrison et al. (2004) is one example of a publication which notes the risks related to the side effects of medications used to treat ADHD.

It is also important to consider the risk factors faced by the caretakers of children with ADHD. According to Le Heuzey (2020), the parent-child relationship may deteriorate due to the conflicts around the children's distractibility, hyperactivity, impulsivity, and resistance against doing homework, everyday tasks (e.g. going to sleep at bedtime), and chores at home. Social relations with parents and people in general may be strained as the children can be aggressive, impolite, intrusive, noisy, noncompliant, self-centered, uncooperative, and unpredictable; parents may be "harassed" until impulsive wishes are fulfilled (Le Heuzey, 2020, pp. 102-103). Parents may be overwhelmed and may feel the home life is being destroyed by ADHD (Schwarz, 2014). Parents of children with ADHD tend to experience high levels of parenting stress which feed into reduced patience, more focus on problems, and more reactivity—due to being under more stress (van de Weijer-Bergsma et al., 2012; van der Oord et al., 2012). Further, parents may suffer from

their own ADHD-related symptoms which compound problematic relations (van der Oord et al., 2012). Therefore, interwoven issues of parent and child were considered in this paper.

Limitations

Multimodal

From the perspective taken by some authors, one limitation refers to multifaceted programs for it is hard to tease out possible outcomes of one facet. Such programs are what the researcher conjectured may be helpful, and a synergy may be in effect from a combined approach. No doubt, validity when naming variables and outcomes is therefore more complex. The two combined meditation-yoga programs demonstrate this. For example, "The improvements seen from the program would need to be sustained in the long term, and further prospective studies are needed to dissect out factors that may be relevant to improvement" (Mehta et al., 2011, p. 4). Another example is mindfulness programs which are multi-faceted. For example, the outcomes of art as homework amongst all the other activities may not be discernable. The homework would seemingly be done at home and away from the study facilitators. These components could conceivably be moved into an AT space where they would be supported by an art therapist and studied as part of research.

Another facet mentioned by Mikulas (2011) relates to mindfulness, in particular. There is concern about taking mindfulness out of its traditional Buddhist context. Therefore, when considering mindfulness interventions, it is essential to consider if enhanced efficacy and a fuller embodiment of mindfulness are lost if not a part of the larger practice. From the researcher's perspective, it is important to consider if offering holistic approaches could potentially alleviate the divide between psychology (mind) and all the rest of life (e.g. body, spirit, social interactions, and nutrition) rather common in the West. Mikulas (2011) mentions an Eastern view that

"Psychological health is part of the overall health of body/mind/spirit" and mentions current tendencies for psychological services to be integrative (p. 6). Conversely, for those who may not have necessarily wished to enter the full Buddhist religious experience, Grosswald et al. (2008) called the mindfulness practice "a secularized version of Vipassana or Insight meditation" (p. 3).

Meta-analyses

If there are adverse affects of the modalities researched not mentioned in this paper for the population, they did not stand out and were not the primary, current focus—namely, exploring possible benefits. In the systematic review of four studies on ADHD and meditation by Krisanaprakornkit et al. (2010), it was stated that "No adverse effects of meditation in children have been reported" (p. 2). The authors could not draw any conclusions due to variables such as including only four studies, the small sample size of those studies, and the concern about bias (Krisanaprakornkit et al., 2010, p. 2). More recently, similar study limitations were portrayed in the meta-analysis by Evans et al. (2018) in a review of meditation-based interventions for children with ADHD. Some meta-analyses consulted on the three subject areas covered in this paper that point out longitudinal patterns, study strengths, and methodological flaws include Cheng (2016), Chimiklis et al. (2018), Lambez et al. (2020), Lee et al. (2012), and Polanczyk et al. (2014).

Intervening Factors

In terms of study validity, if variables such as exposure to environmental toxins, television, junk food, prenatal smoking, malnourishment, and lack of physical exercise (APA, 2013; Armstrong, 2017; Berk, 2012; Sadiq, 2007) are not controlled for, it is difficult to know what may actually be occurring with regards to interventions and, therefore, to judge efficacy. Likewise, it is difficult to surmise just how much improvement can be expected from an intervention if the

variables mentioned above are in place. Finally, voluntary or involuntary participation and group therapy dynamics (Kim et al., 2014) are important variables to explore in depth.

Furthermore, it is important to explore how important setting might be for interventions. The placement might be a critical factor, e.g. when integrated into school schedules. This may provide added levels of consistency, normalization, group participation, and convenience. By the same token, another limitation to consider is comprehensiveness. It is conceivable that there may indeed be a lot of fieldwork done in schools and at other sites where AT and/or meditation techniques are used for the target population. These may not have been made public in peer-reviewed articles. So, the sample of literature is likely not a truly comprehensive one.

Future Directions

Through this theoretical-philosophical project, the researcher would like to set the stage for future interventions and research. For future directions, the researcher would propose seeking out or creating AT with meditation programs for participant interviews and control-group research. Also, more studies on interventions for both diagnosed children and their primary caretakers would be necessary. If there are other family members (e.g. siblings) interested in participating, they could be included in future studies for a fully family-centered approach (Harrison et al., 2004).

Some studies not covered fell under exclusion criteria but intervene on behalf of this population or overlap with arts-based or meditation-based interventions, e.g. martial arts, other CATS fields, nature- or yoga-centered interventions, eurythmy, and so on. While the focus of the paper is not on movement or spending time outdoors, perhaps these interventions could be considered as future directions for combined research, i.e. as choices for an important third modality in a larger multi-step program. This could involve dietary modifications as mentioned by some authors (Armstrong, 2017; Harrison et al., 2004; Sadiq, 2007). Furthermore, studies on

neurological activity recorded during art making (Belkofer et al., 2014; King et al., 2017) note important similarities to brain wave frequencies and activation during meditation—as presented by other authors—but did not actively test meditative states themselves. Thus, those studies could not be included. However, the empathy of an art therapist was also a piece that was studied. Further interesting research could occur for children diagnosed with ADHD and their caretakers in the context of an AT setting with meditation incorporated.

Chapter 5. Conclusion

It is important to find ways to work with children often thought of as difficult and to incorporate their primary caretakers. The methods utilized in the context of an art therapy setting may make the participants more aware of internal resources they already have to cope with life challenges. An AT art-making activity typically does not occur in isolation but in sessions may be preceded by, followed by, or overlap with periods of other activities, e.g. discussion, reflection, "sitting with" an image in a deeply immersed state, emotional expression, or play. Meditation may compliment this process by giving additional, typically low-cost, "portable" resources to both children diagnosed with ADHD and their caretakers (e.g. increased ability to concentrate and deal with stressors) that can be utilized in school, at home, or beyond. The arts in practice may also enhance other interventions, in part by rendering them more accessible. The present research may spark the interest of other researchers and could enable them to more easily conduct various forms of research, e.g. controlled ADHD studies. In short, finding ways to increase attentional capacities and decrease stress levels for all involved could thereby improve quality of life.

References

- Abdesslem, N., Hamrouni, S., Shephard, R.J., & Chelly, M.S. (2019). Efficacy of cognitive-behavioral therapy and deep relaxation for children with attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Movement & Sport Sciences*, 103(1), 19–26.
- American Art Therapy Association. (2013). *Ethical principles for art therapists*. Retrieved from http://www.americanarttherapyassociation.org/upload/ethicalprinciples.pdf
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). Neurodevelopmental Disorders. In *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.). Washington, DC: Author. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.books.9780890425596.dsm01
- American Psychiatric Association. (2015). DSM-5: manuel diagnostique et statistique des troubles mentaux (traduit par J.-D. Guelfi et M.-A. Crocq; 5e éd.). Elsevier Masson. https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/teluq-ebooks/detail.action?docID=4337396
- Armstrong, T. (2017). The myth of the ADHD child: 101 ways to improve your child's behavior and attention span without drugs, labels, or coercion. London: Penguin.
- Association des art-thérapeutes du Québec Inc. (2019). Normes éthiques et code de déontologie des art-thérapeutes. Retrieved from https://aatq.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/Codede-d%C3%A9ontologie-AATQ-1.pdf
- Atalay, M. (2007). Psychology of Crisis: An Overall account of the Psychology of Erikson. *Ekev Academic Review*, 11(33), 15–34.
- Belkofer, C. M., Van Hecke, A.V., & Konopka, L.M. (2014). Effects of drawing on alpha activity: A quantitative EEG study with implications for art therapy. *Art Therapy:*Journal of the American Art Therapy Association, 31(2): 61-68.

- Berk, L. E. (2012). *Development through the lifespan* (Seventh ed.). Hoboken, NJ: Pearson Education, Inc.
- Canadian Art Therapy Association. (2003-2004). *Standards of Practice*. Retrieved from https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5e84c59adbbf2d44e7d72295/t/5e95fef56f6f770b5 fd09304/1586888445276/CATA-ACAT-Standards-of-Practice.pdf
- Canadian Counselling and Psychotherapy Association. (2020). *Code of Ethics*.

 Retrieved from https://www.ccpa-accp.ca/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/CCPA-2020-Code-of-Ethics-E-Book-EN.pdf
- Capps, D. (2004). The Decades of Life: Relocating Erikson's Stages. *Pastoral Psychology*, 53(1), 3–32. https://0-doi-org.mercury.concordia.ca/10.1023/B:PASP.0000039322.53775.2b
- Cheng, F. K. (2016). Is meditation conducive to mental well-being for adolescents? An integrative review for mental health nursing. *International Journal of Africa Nursing Sciences*, 4, 7–19. https://0-doi-org.mercury.concordia.ca/10.1016/j.ijans.2016.01.001
- Chimiklis, A. L., Dahl, V., Spears, A. P., Goss, K., Fogarty, K., & Chacko, A. (2018). Yoga, Mindfulness, and Meditation Interventions for Youth with ADHD: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Journal of Child & Family Studies*, *27*(10), 3155–3168. https://0-doiorg.mercury.concordia.ca/10.1007/s10826-018-1148-7
- Ciasca, E. C., Ferreira, R. C., Forlenza, O. V., Dos Santos, G. D., Nunes, P. V., Santana, C. L. A., & Brum, P. S. (2018). Art therapy as an adjuvant treatment for depression in elderly women: A randomized controlled trial. *Revista Brasileira De Psiquiatria*, 40(3), 256.

- Coholic, D. (2011). Exploring the feasibility and benefits of arts-based mindfulness-based practices with young people in need: Aiming to improve aspects of self-awareness and resilience. *Child & Youth Care Forum*, 40(4), 303–317.
- Coholic, D., & Eys, M. (2016). Benefits of an arts-based mindfulness group intervention for vulnerable children. *Child & Adolescent Social Work Journal*, *33*(1), 1–13.
- Coholic, D., Eys, M., & Lougheed, S. (2012a). Investigating the effectiveness of an arts-based and mindfulness-based group program for the improvement of resilience in children in need. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, *21*, 833–844.
- Coholic, D., Fraser, M., Robinson, B., & Lougheed, S. (2012b). Promoting resilience within child protection: The suitability of arts-based and experiential group programs for children in care. *Social Work with Groups*, *35*(4), 345-361.
- Coholic, D., Lougheed, S., & Lebreton, J. (2009). The Helpfulness of Holistic Arts-Based Group Work with Children Living in Foster Care. *Social Work with Groups*, 32(1), 29-46.
- Coholic, D., Schinke, R., Oghene, O., Dano, K., Jago, M., McAlister, H., & Grynspan, P. (2020).

 Arts-based interventions for youth with mental health challenges. *Journal of Social Work*, 20(3), 269.
- Concordia University. (2015). Art therapy & drama therapy research handbook. Montreal, QC: Author.
- Danforth, S., & Navarro, V. (2001). Hyper talk: Sampling the social construction of ADHD in everyday language. *Anthropology & Education Quarterly*, 32(2), 167–190.

- Erlandsson, S. & Punzi, E. (2016). Challenging the ADHD Consensus. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-Being*, 11(10), 3402.
- Evans, S., Ling, M., Hill, B., Rinehart, N., Austin, D., & Sciberras, E. (2018). Systematic review of meditation-based interventions for children with ADHD. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 27(1), 9–27.
- Feldman, M. (2013). Clinique ethno-psychanalytique: prise en charge singulière et collective d'une famille aux multiples pertes. *Cliniques*, 5(1), 148-164. doi:10.3917/clini.005.0148.
- Franklin, M., Farrelly-Hansen, M., Marek, B., Swan-Foster, N., & Wallingford, S. (2000).

 Transpersonal art therapy education. *Art Therapy: Journal of the American Art Therapy Association*, 17(2), 101–10.
- Gilroy, A. (2006). Art Therapy, Research and Evidence-based Practice. London: Sage.
- Grosswald, S. J., Stixrud, W. R., Travis, F., & Bateh, M. A. (2008). Use of transcendental meditation technique to reduce symptoms of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) by reducing stress and anxiety. *Current Issues in Education* 10(2), 1-11.
- Habib, H. A., & Ali, U. (2015). Efficacy of art therapy in the reduction of impulsive behaviors of children with ADHD co-morbid intellectual disability. *Pakistan Journal of Psychology*, 46(2), 23–33.
- Hamre, H. J., Witt, C. M., Kienle, G. S., Meinecke, C., Glockmann, A., Ziegler, R., Willich, S.
 N., & Kiene, H. (2010). Anthroposophic therapy for attention deficit hyperactivity: A
 two-year prospective study in outpatients. *International Journal of General Medicine*, 3, 239–53.

- Harrison, L. H., Manocha, R., & Rubia, K. (2004). Sahaja yoga meditation as a family treatment programme for children with attention deficit-hyperactivity disorder. *Clinical Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *9*(4), 479-497.
- Henley, D. R. (1998). Art therapy in a socialization program for children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *American Journal of Art Therapy*, *37*(1), 2–12.
- Hinz, L. D. (2009). Expressive therapies continuum: A framework for using art in therapy. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Huguet, A., Ruiz, D. M., Haro, J. M., & Alda, J. A. (2017). A pilot study of the efficacy of a mindfulness program for children newly diagnosed with attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder: Impact on core symptoms and executive functions. *International Journal of Psychology & Psychological Therapy*, 17(3), 305–316.
- James, A., Lai, F. H., & Dahl, C. (2004). Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder and suicide: a review of possible associations. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 110(6), 408–415. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0447.2004.00384.x
- Kalmanowitz, D., & Ho, R. T. H. (2016). Out of our mind. Art therapy and mindfulness with refugees, political violence and trauma. *The Arts in Psychotherapy*, 49, 57–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aip.2016.05.012
- Keirns, N., Little, W., Vyain, S., Scaramuzzo, G., Cody-Rydzewski, S., Griffiths, H., Strayer, E., & McGivern, R. (2013). *Introduction to sociology* (1st Canadian ed.). Rice University. https://opentextbc.ca/introductiontosociology/chapter/chapter1-an-introduction-to-sociology/

- Kessler, R. C., Adler, L. A., Barkley, R., Biederman, J., Conners, C. K., Faraone, S. V.,
 Greenhill, L. L., Jaeger, S., Secnik, K., Spencer, T., Üstün, T. B., & Zaslavsky, A. M.
 (2005). Patterns and predictors of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder persistence into adulthood: Results from the national comorbidity survey replication. *Biological Psychiatry*, 57(11), 1442–1451. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.04.001
- Kessler, R. C., Adler, L., Barkley, R., Biederman, J., Conners, C. K., Demler, O., Faraone, S. V.,
 Greenhill, L. L., Howes, M. J., Secnik, K., Spencer, T., Ustun, T. B., Walters, E. E., &
 Zaslavsky, A. M. (2006). The prevalence and correlates of adult ADHD in the United
 States: Results from the national comorbidity survey replication. *The American Journal*of Psychiatry, 163(4), 716–23.
- Kim, S., Kim, G., & Ki, J. (2014). Effects of group art therapy combined with breath meditation on the subjective well-being of depressed and anxious adolescents. *The Arts in Psychotherapy*, 41(5), 519–526.
- King, J. L., Knapp, E. K., Shaikh, A., Li, F., Sabau, D., Pascuzzi, R. M., & Osburn, L. L. (2017).
 Cortical activity changes after art making and rote motor movement as measured by
 EEG: A preliminary study. *Biomedical Journal of Scientific & Technical Research 1*(4), 1-14. doi: 10.26717/BJSTR.2017.01.000366
- Knight, Z. G. (2017). 'If I leave home, who will take care of mum?' Intergenerational transmission of parental trauma through projective identification. *Scandinavian Psychoanalytic Review*, 40(2), 119–128.

- Krisanaprakornkit, T., Ngamjarus, C., Witoonchart, C., & Piyavhatkul, N. (2010). Meditation therapies for attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 6.
- Lambez, B., Harwood-Gross, A., Golumbic, E. Z., & Rassovsky, Y. (2020). Non-pharmacological interventions for cognitive difficulties in ADHD: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 120, 40–55.
- Lee, P., Niew, W., Yang, H., Chen, V.C., & Lin, K. (2012). A meta-analysis of behavioral parent training for children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 33(6), 2040–2049.
- Lee, S.-L., & Liu, H.-L. A. (2016). A pilot study of art therapy for children with special educational needs in Hong Kong. *The Arts in Psychotherapy*, *51*, 24–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aip.2016.08.005
- Le Heuzey, M. F. (2020). Le Trouble Déficit de l'Attention/Hyperactivité (TDAH) chez l'enfant : approche médicale. *Journal de Pédiatrie et de Puériculture*, 33(3), 101–108.
- Liao, Y., & Liu, S. (2012). Effectiveness of group art therapy for children with ADHD and emotional dysregulation. *Neuropsychiatrie de l'enfance et de l'adolescence*, 60(5), S301–S302.
- Lindsey, L., Robertson, P., & Lindsey, B. (2018). Expressive arts and mindfulness: Aiding adolescents in understanding and managing their stress. *Journal of Creativity in Mental Health*, 13(3), 288–297. https://o-doi-org.mercury.concordia.ca/10.1080/15401383.2018.1427167

- L'Organisation mondiale de la santé. (2008). CIM-10/ICD-10: Classification internationale des maladies. Dixième révision. Chapitre V(F), Troubles mentaux et troubles du comportement: critères diagnostiques pour la recherche. Traduction de l'anglais coordonnée par C. B. Pull. Genève: Organisation mondiale de la Santé.
- Lougheed, S. C. & Coholic, D. A. (2018). Arts-based mindfulness group work with youth aging out of foster care. *Social Work with Groups*, 41(1-2), 165-178.
- Mehta, S., Mehta, V., Mehta, S., Shah, D., Motiwala, A., Vardhan, J., Mehta, N., & Mehta, D. (2011). Multimodal behavior program for ADHD incorporating yoga and implemented by high school volunteers: A pilot study. *ISRN Pediatrics*, 2011, 1-5.
- Mikulas, W. (2011). Mindfulness: Significant common confusions. *Mindfulness*, 2(1), 1-7.
- Mitchell, J. T., Zylowska, L., & Kollins, S. H. (2015). Mindfulness meditation training for attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder in adulthood: Current empirical support, treatment overview, and future directions. *Cognitive and Behavioral Practice*, 22(2), 172–191.
- Modesto-Lowe, V., Farahmand, P., Chaplin, M., & Sarro, L. (2015). Does mindfulness meditation improve attention in attention deficit hyperactivity disorder? *World Journal of Psychiatry*, *5*(4), 397–403.
- Muhlegg, M. (2016). Projective identification in the intergenerational transmission of unsymbolized parental trauma: An adoptee's search for truth. *Canadian Journal of Psychoanalysis*, 24(1), 51–73.
- Mullet, D. R. & Rinn, A. N. (2015). Giftedness and ADHD: Identification, misdiagnosis, and dual diagnosis. *Roeper Review*, *37*,195-207.

- Neuman, W. (2006). Social research methods: Qualitative and quantitative approaches. (6th ed.). Needham Heights, MA: Allyn & Bacon.
- Orme-Johnson D., & Walton, K. G. (1998). All approaches to preventing or reversing effects of stress are not the same. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 12, 297-299.
- Patton, M. Q. (2002). *Qualitative research & evaluation methods*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Perry, B. D., & Szalavitz, M. (2006). The boy who was raised as a dog and other stories from a child psychiatrist's notebook: What traumatized children can teach us about loss, love, and healing. New York: Basic Books.
- Polanczyk, G. V., Willcutt, E. G., Salum, G. A., Kieling, C., & Rohde, L. A. (2014). ADHD prevalence estimates across three decades: An updated systematic review and meta-regression analysis. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 43(2), 434–442. https://o-doi-org.mercury.concordia.ca/10.1093/ije/dyt261
- Ronchewski Degorre, S. (2017). Comment prendre soin de l'enfant hyperactif à l'école ? De l'élève indiscipliné à l'élève handicapé. *Phronesis*, *6*(3), 82–82. https://doi.org/10.3917/phron.063.0082
- Rubin, J. A. (1998). Art therapy: An introduction. Philadelphia, PA: Brunner/Mazel.
- Sadiq, A. J. (2007). Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder and integrative approaches. *Psychiatric Annals*, 39(9), 630-638.
- Saneei, A., Bahrami, H., & Haghegh, S. A. (2011). Self-esteem and anxiety in human figure drawing of Iranian children with ADHD. *The Arts in Psychotherapy*, 38(4), 256–260.

- Schwarz, A. (2014, May 16). Thousands of toddlers are medicated for A.D.H.D. report finds, raising worries. *The New York Times*. https://nyti.ms/1jnBG77
- Silverman, R. C., & Lieberman, A. F. (1999). Negative maternal attributions, projective identification, and the intergenerational transmission of violent relational patterns. *Psychoanalytic Dialogues*, *9*(2), 161.
- Sin, J. (2017) Mindfulness-Based Art Therapy in Working with School-Aged Children with ADHD in Emotional Regulation. [Graduate Projects (Non-thesis)] (Unpublished)
- Singh, N., Singh, A., Lancioni, G., Singh, J., Winton, A., & Adkins, A. (2010). Mindfulness training for parents and their children with ADHD increases the children's compliance. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 19(2), 157–166.
- Tarrasch, R. (2018). The effects of mindfulness practice on attentional functions among primary school children. *Journal of Child & Family Studies*, 27(8), 2632–2642.
- Tracy, S. J. (2010). Qualitative quality: Eight "big tent" criteria for excellent qualitative research.

 Qualitative Inquiry, 16(10), 837-851.
- Travis, F. & Pearson, C. (2000). Pure consciousness: distinct phenomenological and physiological correlates of "consciousness itself". *The International Journal of Neuroscience*, 100, 1-4.
- van de Weijer-Bergsma, E., Formsma, A. R., de Bruin, E. I., & Bögels, S. M. (2012). The effectiveness of mindfulness training on behavioural problems and attentional functioning in adolescents with ADHD. *Journal of Child and Family Studies, 21*, 775–787. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10826-011-9531-7

- van der Oord, S., Bögels, S. M., & Peijnenburg, D. (2012). The effectiveness of mindfulness training for children with ADHD and mindful parenting for their parents. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 21, 139–147. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10826-011-9457-0
- Vick, R. M. (2003). A brief history of art therapy. In C. A. Malchiodi, (Ed.), *Handbook of art therapy* (pp. 5-15). New York: The Guilford Press.
- Wardi-Zonna, K. (2020). Finding Buddha in the clay studio: Lessons for art therapy. *Art Therapy*, *37*(1), 42–45. https://doi.org/10.1080/07421656.2019.1656459
- Waska, R. (2014). Attention deficit disorder or object detachment disorder: a brief psychoanalytic case study. *Psychoanalytic Review*, *101*(3), 367–383.
- Waska, R. (2015). Object relational disturbances that may underlie the diagnosis of attention-deficit disorder in adults. *International Forum of Psychoanalysis*, 24(3), 143–152.
- World Health Organization. (2016). Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. In *International* statistical classification of diseases and related health problems (10th Revision).

 Retrieved from https://icd.who.int/browse10/2016/en#/F90-F98
- Yoo, Y. G., Lee, D. J., Lee, I. S., Shin, N., Park, J. Y., Yoon, M. R., & Yu, B. (2016). The effects of mind subtraction meditation on Depression, Social Anxiety, Aggression, and Salivary Cortisol Levels of Elementary School Children in South Korea. *Journal of Pediatric Nursing*, 31, e185-e197.
- Zylowska, L., Ackerman, D. L., Yang, M. H., Futrell, J. L., Horton, N. L., Hale, T. S., Pataki, C., & Smalley, S. L. (2008). Mindfulness meditation training in adults and adolescents with ADHD: A feasibility study. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 11(6), 737-746. doi: 10.1177/1087054707308502

Appendix

ERIKSON'S PSYCHOSOCIAL STAGES*

Approximate age	Erikson's psychosocial stage
Birth-1 year	Basic trust versus mistrust: From warm, responsive care, infants gain a sense of trust that the world is good. Mistrust occurs if infants are neglected or handled harshly.
1-3 years	Autonomy versus shame and doubt: Using new mental and motor skills, children want to decide for themselves. Autonomy is fostered when parents permit reasonable free choice and do not force or shame the child.
3-6 years	Initiative versus guilt. Through make-believe play, children gain insight into the person they can become. Initiative—a sense of ambition and responsibility—develops when parents support their child's sense of purpose. If parents demand too much self-control, children experience excessive guilt.
6-11 years	Industry versus inferiority: At school, children learn to work and cooperate with others. Inferiority develops when negative experiences at home or school lead to feelings of incompetence.
Adolescence	<i>Identity versus role confusion:</i> By exploring values and vocational goals, the young person forms a personal identity. The negative outcome is confusion about future adult roles.
Early adulthood	Intimacy versus isolation: Young adults establish intimate relationships. Because of earlier disappointments, some individuals cannot form close bonds and remain isolated.
Middle adulthood	Generativity versus stagnation: Generativity means giving to the next generation through child rearing, caring for others, or productive work. The person who fails in these ways feels an absence of meaningful accomplishment.
Old age	Integrity versus despair: Integrity results from feeling that life was worth living as it happened. Older people who are dissatisfied with their lives fear death.

^{*(}Berk, 2012, p. 16)